C

## SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

## LOREAN S. EVANS; HENRY MCDERMOTT; LUCILLE MCDERMOTT; and CHERYL LEE HARRISON,

#### Appellants,

¥8.

4

GEORGE FIRESTONE, as Secretary of State of Florida; and REASON '84: THE COMMITTEE FOR CITIZENS RIGHTS IN CIVIL ACTIONS, a political action committee,

#### Appellees.

SID J. WISHE SEP 25 1984 CLERK, SUPREME COURE By\_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Clerk **CASE NO. 65,898** 

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

On Certified Appeal from the District Court of Appeal for the First District.

> BARRY RICHARD ROBERTS, BAGGETT, LaFACE, RICHARD & WISER 101 East College Avenue Post Office Drawer 1838 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 222-6891

and

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE**

[Due to the abbreviated briefing schedule, this brief is being filed before the Record on Appeal has been prepared. Consequently, no references to the record are included. However, all representations in this Statement of the Facts and Case are undisputed.]

Defendant/Appellee, REASON '84, THE COMMITTEE FOR CITIZENS RIGHTS IN CIVIL ACTIONS, is a political action committee registered with the Secretary of State pursuant to Section 106.03, Florida Statutes. On April 2, 1984, Reason '84 submitted to the Secretary of State an initiative petition form for amendment of the Florida Constitution. The petition included the following amendment language:

#### CITIZEN'S RIGHTS IN CIVIL ACTIONS

In civil actions: a) no party can be found liable for payment of damages in excess of his/her percentage of liability; b) the Court shall grant a summary judgment on motion of any party, when the Court finds no genuine dispute exists concerning the material facts of the case; c) noneconomic damages such as pain and suffering, mental anquish, loss of consortium, and loss of capacity for the enjoyment of life shall not be awarded in excess of \$100,000 against any party.

The petition included the following ballot title and summary:

#### CITIZEN'S RIGHTS IN CIVIL ACTIONS

Amendment establishes citizen's rights in civil actions: provides a party in a lawsuit shall not be required to pay more damages than the jury found him/her responsible for personally; requires courts to dispose of lawsuits when no dispute exists over the material facts thus avoiding unnecessary costs; and allows full recovery of all actual expenses such as lost wages, accident costs, medical bills, etc., but limits non-economic damages to a maximum of \$100,000.

The Secretary of State approved the petition as to format, but expressly declined to review the petition for legal sufficiency and, on August 7, 1984, issued a certificate of ballot position for the title and summary of the proposed amendment.

On August 14, 1984, Plaintiffs filed a complaint challenging the constitutional validity of the amendment itself and of the ballot title and summary. Reason '84 filed a

counterclaim seeking declaratory judgment of the validity of the amendment and the ballot title and summary and final hearing was held before Judge Ben C. Willis on September 14, 1984. Judge Willis held the amendment and the ballot title and summary valid and denied relief to the plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs filed an appeal to the District Court of Appeal for the First District and, upon joint motion of Plaintiffs and Defendant Reason '84, the District Court certified the case to this Court as being one of great public importance requiring immediate resolution by the Supreme Court.

This brief is filed pursuant to a stipulation of the parties for an abbreviated briefing schedule.

#### ARGUMENT

I.

## PROPOSITION 9 VIOLATES THE SINGLE-SUBJECT LIMITATION OF ARTICLE XI, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Article XI of the Florida Constitution establishes four methods for amending the Constitution. Only Section 3, which provides for amendment by initiative petition, includes a single-subject requirement. That limitation reads:

> [T]he power to propose the revision or amendment of any portion or portions of this constitution by initiative is reserved to the people, provided that, any such revision or amendment shall embrace but one subject and matter directly connected therewith. (emphasis added)

On April 23, 1984, this Court struck from the November ballot another initiative proposal — so-called Proposition One — on the ground that it violated the single-subject limitation of Section 3. <u>Fine v. Firestone</u>, 448 So.2d 984 (Fla. 1984). The <u>Fine</u> decision directly controls this Court's consideration of Proposition 9.

<u>Fine v. Firestone</u> is the Court's definitive pronouncement concerning the onesubject limitation on initiative petitions which seek to amend Florida's Constitution. A great deal could be said about prior court decisions on this issue, starting with the unicameral legislature case<sup>1</sup> and continuing through the Sunshine Amendment<sup>2</sup> and the casino gambling case.<sup>3</sup> Any discussion of those cases would be irrelevant in light of the Court's <u>Fine</u> decision, however, and unnecessary in light of the Court's obvious, current familiarity with them. In the same vein, it insults the Court's intelligence to iterate here

<sup>1</sup> Adams v. Gunter, 238 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1970)

<sup>3</sup> <u>Floridians Against Casino Takeover v. Let's Help Florida</u>, 363 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1978).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Weber v. Smathers, 338 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1976)

facts or commentary regarding the evolution of Article XI, Section 3 in the scheme of Florida's history. The Court well understands the who, what and when in the development of this constitutional "rule of restraint."

Accordingly, Appellants expressly pretermit discussion of these pre-<u>Fine</u> matters, in the sure knowledge that the Justices' thoughtful analysis of Article XI, Section 3 in the <u>Fine</u> decision were intended as beacons, both to illuminate the law on this subject and to signal the Court's clear commitment to a consistent method of evaluating future initiative proposals.

Before considering the applicability of the <u>Fine</u> decision to Proposition 9, it is well to consider that Appellee "Reason'84" submitted its proposed amendment to the Secretary of State on April 2, 1984.<sup>4</sup> <u>Fine v. Firestone</u> was decided and published one week earlier, on March 27. From the timing, it appears that the drafters of Proposition 9 actually waited for the Court's decision! In any event, the proponents of Proposition 9 knew quite clearly what <u>Fine</u> said and what the Court intended. They were not ignorant or unaware of the Court's views. They were, rather, the very first in the class of proposers to whom the Justices clearly addressed their opinions. Heaven and the proponents alone know why they chose to disregard the Court's clear guidance.

It is also well to consider as a preliminary matter, as it was in <u>Fine</u>, exactly what the Court is being asked to do. Appellants are <u>not</u> asking the Court to deny the electorate of Florida an opportunity to amend their Constitution, as Reason '84 argued elaborately below and will undoubtedly assert here. Rather, Appellants are asking the Court, as did the petitioner in Fine, to enforce a current constitutional protection

which the people themselves have incorporated in our Constitution....

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  See, Complaint paragraph 7, which defendant Reason '84 admitted in its answer.

Fine v. Firestone, 488 So.2d at 993, quoting Justice Thornal in Adams v. Gunter, 328 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1970).

As the Court knows, the <u>Fine</u> case involved the so-called "Citizen's Choice" amendment limiting government revenue. A detailed analysis of Proposition One seems unnecessary in light of <u>Fine</u>'s recentness. Several key principles were developed in <u>Fine</u>, however, which do bear restating. These define the role and purpose of the singlesubject limitation on initiative proposals in Florida's Constitution, and prescribe the standards for judicial scrutiny.

(A) Role and purpose.

The one-subject limitation on home-grown constitutional amendments is a device to protect the Constitution for all of us against the excesses or eccentricities of any one or more of us. Individuals or groups working out of the sunshine, counseling only among themselves, and planning changes in the Constitution which reflect only their own interests, have been restricted by the authors of our existing Constitution, and by the electorate itself, in one sense only — the requirement that they undertake their changes one subject at a time.

> The single-subject requirement in the proviso language of this section is a rule of restraint. It was placed in the constitution by the people to allow the citizens, by initiative petition, to propose and vote on singular changes in the functions of our governmental structure.

> > \* \* \*

It is apparent that the authors of Article XI realized that the initiative method did not provide a filtering legislative process for the drafting of any specific proposed constitutional amendment or revision. The legislative, revision commission, and constitutional convention processes of sections 1, 2 and 4 all afford an opportunity for public hearing and debate not only on the proposal itself but also in the drafting of any constitutional proposal. That opportunity for input in the drafting of a proposal is not present under the initiative process and this is one of the reasons the initiative process is restricted to single-subject changes in the state constitution. The singlesubject requirement in Article XI, Section 3 mandates that the electorate's attention be directed to a change regarding one specific subject of government to protect against multiple precipitous changes in our state constitution.

Fne v. Firestone, supra at 988.

#### (B) Standards for judicial scrutiny.

The essense of the <u>Fine</u> decision was that, for Section 3 initiative petition purposes, simplistic rubrics or labels will not determine the number of subjects which an initiative proposal contains. Before allowing a vote on an improper amendment, the courts will examine the breadth and actual effect of a proposed amendment by analyzing the words and context that are written into the amendment by its draftpersons.

This Court has held that more than one subject was embraced within the label "revenue limitation." The same screening test applied in <u>Fine</u> will lead the Court to conclude that the label "limitations on recoveries of damages in civil actions" (which Reason '84's counsel identified as "the subject" in their memorandum of law below on page 5), or the label "citizen's rights in civil actions" (which Judge Willis seemed to have approved), constitute more than one subject.

The Court in <u>Fine</u> sets forth three discreet standards to be applied for any Section 3 analysis, to determine if the proposed amendment is clearly and conclusively defective. First, the single-subject limitation of Section 3 is more narrow in its operation than the similar one-subject requirement which controls laws emanating from the legislature. While both are aimed at the evil of "logrolling"<sup>5</sup>, the initiative limitation is more restrictive in application because there are no filtering processes of drafting and debate such as are available in the legislature. Initiative proposals, therefore, will be subject to close scrutiny by the courts.

<sup>5</sup> Id.

Second, the effect of an initiative proposal on articles or sections of the Constitution other than the one which it purports to amend is an appropriate factor to be considered in determining whether it contains more than one subject.<sup>6</sup> In <u>Fine</u>, the Court specifically found from its analysis of Proposition One that it substantially affected multiple sections and articles of the Constitution which had not been identified to the electorate.<sup>7</sup>

Third, the components of an initiative proposal must have a logical and natural oneness of purpose.<sup>8</sup>

Applying the <u>Fine</u> tests to Proposition 9 leads to the conclusion that this proposal, like Proposition One's revenue-limiting amendment, clearly and conclusively violates Article XI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution.

(1) <u>Close scrutiny.</u>

It is clear from <u>Fine</u> that the breadth of subjects suitable for legislative consolidation into a single bill is not suitable for an aggragation of dissimilar provisions into a single initiative proposal. With no opportunity for communal drafting, collegial deliberations, or public input and debate on an initiative proposal, close scrutiny by the judiciary is required.

A starting point for an analysis of Proposition 9, consequently, is the facial appearance of the amendment itself. This one contains three, separately numbered subsections, and to date, no explanation or comment on the proposal, including Judge Willis' Final Declaratory Judgment below, has been possible without a separate description of each of the three component subjects. Contrast the amendment

<sup>6</sup> Id.

7 Id.

<sup>8</sup> <u>Id.</u>

considered in <u>Floridians</u>. Whatever the Justices may think of the casino gambling proposal in that case<sup>9</sup>, everyone knew its "subject" from that very phrase — "casino gambling." That label described its dominant purpose with unmistakable clarity; that is, the proposal dealt with, and would have authorized for the first time in Florida, "casino gambling".<sup>10</sup>

One cannot speak of Proposition 9 with any awareness of its one "subject". Judge Willis couldn't. He labeled it "citizens rights in civil actions," as the drafters had labeled it, but he was unable to describe its content without describing three component subjects. (App. 1 - 3). Even the able elocution of Proposition 9's current counsel has not to date, in writing or in voice, been able to say with a singleness of thought what the amendment stands for or does. Three descriptions are always needed. In fact, the contents of Proposition 9 remain as much a generic mystery as was the content of "revenue limitations."<sup>11</sup> Both are meaningless, overbroad generalities, like "motherhood".

A second way to scrutinize Proposition 9 under the close scrutiny test is available to the Court in this case, peculiarly, as a result of its unique development. This proposal did not emerge from the brains and the backroom of a handful of private, individual sponsors, as did the Sunshine Amendment considered in <u>Weber</u>, the casino gambling amendment considered in <u>Floridians</u>, and the revenue limitation proposal considered in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See, the dissenting opinions of Justices Ehrlich and Shaw, <u>Fine v. Firestone</u> at 996 and 998.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Appellants recognize that a pure logrolling analysis of the amendment revealed that another constituency was seemingly attracted to vote for "casino gambling" because of the prescribed uses of gambling proceeds. But for purposes of preliminary facial analysis — a "smell test" as it were — the unity of purpose was crystal clear.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The "subject" is not clarified by calling Proposition 9 a limitation on recoveries of damages in civil actions, as its proponents did in the trial court. In some ways that is worse because of its imprecision.

<u>Fine</u>. This proposal emerged from a package of proposed laws which were sponsored for the Florida Legislature in 1984 by the Florida Medical Association. Parts of the proposed amendment to the Consstitution began life in bills such as S. B. 842. They were not enacted, however.

What is key to this ssue, and unique among initiative proposals, is that Proposition 9 was a package of proposed laws, introduced for a special interest purpose, and considered as a whole. It may have been an acceptable potpourri for legislative "one subject" purposes. But this Court has said that the single-subject test for legislation (Article III, Section 6) does not apply to initiative proposals.

As legislative bills, the components of Proposition 9 were never a discreet attempt to treat "citizen's rights in civil actions." They were then, and remain now, several subjects designed to provide doctors with financial relief — a variety of remedial medicines ("subjects") seeking legislative prescriptions. When that prescription was not filled by the legislature, Reason '84 was formed to put some of the pills in the Constitution. Only then did the purported "subject" become "citizen's rights" in civil actions, a title with generic symbolism as appealing, but as broad and empty a vessel, as "Citizens Choice on Government Revenue."

A third approach to the Court's close scrutiny test is to see what the sponsors have said. The Court will find that there is a total lack of consistency in describing the proposal, even by its sponsors. Certainly there is no consistent identification such as attended "unicameralism" "casino gambling", or "ethics in government." In those instances, the description of the amendment never changed. What voters read was what they got (or chose not to have).

Proposition 9, in contrast, suffers from diversititleitis (pronounced "diverse-eyetitle-itis"), a chameleon's disease. The ballot title and summary are labeled "Citizen's Rights in Civil Actions" (whatever that means). The campaign for signatures on the petition drive, and for votes in November, has spoken dominantly of "health care cost

- 9 -

containment."<sup>12</sup> Counsel for the proponents announced to the world in the trial court that, in reality, the subject of Proposition 9 is "limitation upon the recovery of damages in civil actions." Judge Willis seemingly decreed that the sole subject of the proposal is "citizen's rights in civil actions."

Appellants suggest that it takes only the most casual look, not even a close scrutiny, to see that Proposition 9 has more than one, in fact three, subjects: the elimination of joint and several liability (and perhaps other things); the elevation of this Court's summary judgment rule to constitutional stature; and the "capping" of certain damages at \$100,000 per party. The concepts are legally and logically unrelated.

## (2) Affect on other provisions of the Constitution.

Subsection (a) of Proposition 9 deals with the relative degree of liability among multiple individual defendants. It expressly restricts the liability for damages of any person to "his" or "her" percentage of liability.<sup>13</sup> Obviously this subsection affects the

<sup>13</sup> By dealing expressly with the gender of possile defendants ("his/her"), this subsection of Proposition 9 leaves unchanged the liability of corporate, or "its", defendants. The mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another. <u>Thayer v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 815, 817 (Fla. 1976).

The proponents of Proposition 9 will undoubtedly assert that the gender identification of subsection (a) is not intended to exclude corporate defendants. But it is they who wrote the amendment, and it is they who selected gender words which already have a precise meaning in the Declaration of Rights to Florida's Constitution. They are bound by what they did; not what they may now say. <u>Myers v. Hawkins</u>, 362 So.2d 926, 930 (Fla. 1978).

The words "his" or "her" in subsection (a) of Proposition 9 can only refer to natural persons. Equivalent personal pronouns are used elsewhere in Article I to mean only natural persons. See, Sections 9 (abrogating self-incrimination against "himself"), Section 16 (according the right to be informed of criminal charges against "him"), and Section 23 (providing persons with privacy from intrusions into "his" private life). Article I delineates the distinction even more clearly by employing the impersonal pronoun"it" to mean only entities other than natural persons. See Sections 18 (referencing administrative agencies), and 20. The differentiation between incorporated doctors and self-employed physicians is irrational and has no relationship to the avowed campaign objective for Proposition 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> [Pl. Exh. 1 - 10; App. 4].

procedural burdens of a plaintiff as against multiple individual defendants, and to that extent directly affects civil proceedings.

Subsection (b) merely places in the Constitution the summary judgment rule which now appars in Rule 1.510 of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure.<sup>14</sup> It has nothing to do with the relative liability of individual defendants, and it does not affect in any way a plaintiff's burden of proof. In its relationship to civil actions, it "establishes" nothing (which the ballot title erroneously suggests), but rather freezes the status quo in a constitutional straight jacket. Most importantly, it has nothing to do with damage limitations in any way, and in fact would operate on a host of civil actions which have no damage awards at all. Examples include mortgage foreclosures, will contests, partition suits, accountings, and injunctive actions. These matters are so unrelated to the cap on damages or the elimination of joint and several liability that in no way can be characterized as the same subject or as "matters directly connected" with the others.

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