0/a 10-1-84

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LOREAN S. EVANS; HENRY McDERMOTT; LUCILLE McDERMOTT; and CHERYL LEE HARRISON,

Appellants,

vs.

GEORGE FIRESTONE, as Secretary of State of Florida; and REASON '84: THE COMMITTEE FOR CITIZENS RIGHTS IN CIVIL ACTIONS, a political action committee,

Appellees.

On Certified Appeal from the

First District Court of Appeal

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Robert L. Shevin James A. Minix, of SPARBER, SHEVIN, SHAPO & HEILBRONNER, P.A. Ste. 2200, AmeriFirst Bldg. One Southeast Third Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Chesterfield Smith Julian Clarkson Lynn M. Dannheisser, of HOLLAND & KNIGHT P. O. Drawer 810 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-7000

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

> If the amendment should be adopted by the voters, it may then become our responsibility, in an appropriate case, to harmonize its reach and meaning with other provisions of the Constitution. To attempt at this time an interpretation of the proposal as it relates to other constitutional provisions would be premature.

338 So.2d at 831 (emphasis added).

The same commentary is appropriate in this case, and the same result should be reached.

II. THE BALLOT SUMMARY MEETS THE REQUIRE-MENTS OF §101.161, FLORIDA STATUTES.

Appellants further contend that the Reason '84 initiative should be removed from the ballot because it fails to summarize the substance of the amendment in clear and unambiguous language as required by section 101.161, Florida Statutes. The statute provides in relevant part:

Because Sherrod v. Franza involved the propriety of a writ of prohibition to remedy denial of a constitutional right, that argument is dubious at best, but surely premature.

As to the second (article I, section 21), appellants complain that subpart c), imposing a \$100,000 cap on noneconomic damages, would collide with Kluger v. White, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1983), which required a reasonable alternative form of redress upon abolition of certain rights. The short answer to that criticism is that a cap on damages abolishes nothing. Jetton v. Jacksonville Electric Authority, 399 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); see also Cauley v. City of Jacksonville, 403 So.2d 379, 385 n.12 (Fla. 1981). But that argument is equally premature.

"Whenever a constitutional amendment or other public measure is submitted to the vote of the people, the substance of each amendment or other public measure shall be printed in clear and unambiguous language on the ballot....The wording of the substance of the amendment or other public measure and the ballot title to appear on the ballot shall be embodied in the joint resolution....The substance of the amendment or other public measure shall be an explanatory statement, not exceeding 75 words in length, of the chief purpose of the measure. The ballot title shall consist of a caption, not exceeding 15 words in length, by which the measure is commonly referred to or spoken of " (emphasis added)

This Court has considered the same argument that a ballot summary did not adequately give notice of the chief purpose of a proposed constitutional amendment in two recent cases, <u>Askew v. Firestone</u>, 421 So.2d 151 (Fla. 1982), and <u>Grose v. Firestone</u>, 422 So.2d 303 (Fla. 1982). The results reached in those cases support the judgment now being reviewed.

In <u>Askew v. Firestone</u>, the Court considered a proposed change in the Sunshine Amendment, article II, section 8, to the Florida Constitution.²¹ The proposal, originated by the legislature, included both an addition to and a repeal of part of the existing amendment prohibiting legislators and other public officers from lobbying their former governmental bodies or agencies for two years after vacating office. The new amendment would have authorized such lobbying, but only after financial disclosure. The ballot summary neglected to advise the public that

²¹The Sunshine Amendment itself was the subject of this Court's consideration in Weber v. Smathers, supra.

-19-

there was an existing two-year ban on lobbying and that the chief purpose of the amendment was to abolish the total prohibition. This Court held the title and ballot summary deficient for those reasons, stating that the summary was misleading and did not give the electorate fair notice of the actual change in the existing constitution.²²

In one sense, <u>Askew v. Firestone</u> was the reverse of the Reason '84 situation. There it was a citizens' initiative that caused the people to adopt the Sunshine Amendment as part of the state constitution and it was the legislature that sought to dilute what the people had earlier approved without fairly stating the chief purpose of the new measure. Here, another citizens' initiative seeks to overcome legislative inertia²³ within the realm of citizens' rights in civil actions.

The result in this case should be controlled by <u>Grose</u> <u>v. Firestone</u>. There the ballot summary was held to be in compliance with the statutory requirement in that it adequately

²²The majority opinion states an important distinction between the proposal in Askew v. Firestone and the one sponsored by Reason '84: "Had SJR 1035 not been an amendment to an existing provision, if it had been a totally new provision, its ballot summary and title would probably have been permissible." 421 So.2d at 156.

²³The Court judicially knows that the subject matter of the Reason '84 proposal was presented to the legislature at the 1983 and 1984 sessions without positive results. Thus, this case presents a classic illustration of the circumstance spoken of by Justice Ervin in his dissenting opinion in Adams v. Gunter: "(T)he people believed. . .that they had a 'club in the closet', so to speak, to use when all other instrumentalities and sources for organic change failed to materialize." See discussion at pp. 5-6, <u>supra</u>.

disclosed the chief purpose of the proposed amendment, i.e., the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. The challengers to the ballot summary contended it was defective because it did not adequately describe all possible future effects of the amendment. The Court held the ballot summary valid because the chief purpose was clearly stated, giving the voters fair notice of the meaning and effect of the proposal. The Court held that inclusion of <u>all</u> possible future effects is <u>not</u> required.

Reason '84's ballot summary clearly sets forth the chief purpose of the proposed initiative: constitutional recognition, for the first time, of citizen's rights in civil actions. Appellants have detailed each area of the law which they believe might be affected by the passage of this amendment. Even assuming their concerns were valid, it is clear that the Court does not require that all possible effects of the proposed amendment be included in a ballot summary. Obviously, if that were required, the summary would not be limited to 75 words in length as prescribed by section 101.161.

The rationale for the "chief purpose" requirement and the Court's strong position that all possible effects of a proposed initiative are not required to be enumerated is expressed in two cases cited by the Court in <u>Askew</u>. In <u>Hill v.</u> <u>Milander</u>, 72 So.2d 796 (Fla. 1954), the Court found that inclusion of the whole proposal was not mandatory because a voter might be apprised of all issues through the media and other means of communication. In <u>Miami Dolphins v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>,

-21-

394 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1981), the Court again emphasized that not every aspect of a proposal need be explained in the voting booth because:

> It is a matter of common knowledge that many weeks are consumed, in advance of elections, apprising the electorate of the issues to be determined and that in this day and age of radio, television, newspaper and the many other means of communicating and disseminating information, it is idle to argue that every proposition on a ballot must appear at great and undue length.

394 So.2d at 987 (quoting Hill v. Milander, 72 So.2d at 798).

By their Point II, appellants essentially argue that the ballot summary must do more than advise voters of the amendment's chief purpose, even to the point of addressing particular This is not the law of Florida. In Smathers v. effects. Smith, supra, the Court refused to speculate on future implications of a proposed amendment in advance of its adoption, holding that "(i)f the amendment should be adopted by the voters, it may then become our responsibility, in an appropriate case, to harmonize its reach and meaning with other provisions of the Constitution." 338 So.2d at 831. Although that decision disposes of appellants' specific criticisms in their Point II, Reason '84 will briefly respond to each one.

(a) Appellants argue that the ballot summary erroneously states that the amendment "establishes citizen's rights in civil actions" when in fact it would curtail citizen's rights in civil actions. This is untrue. At the present time, any rights the citizens possess with respect to civil actions have developed from common law and statute, not constitutional

-22-

mandate. That which the legislature and courts grant, they may also take away. Fla. Stat. §2.01. <u>See also</u>, <u>Sibley v. Board of</u> <u>Supervisors of Louisiana State University etc.</u>, 446 So.2d 760 (La. App. 1st Cir. 1983). Thus, causes of action and citizen's rights in civil actions, which are creatures of statute and common law, are subject to change at the discretion of the legislature and the courts.²⁴ The proposed constitutional initiative for the first time freezes the enumerated rights in constitutional concrete. These rights, unlike legislative enactments or court decisions, cannot later be limited or abrogated by statute or judicial decision. The constitutional initiative would elevate these rights to a constitutional level, in effect guaranteeing citizens greater rights than they now enjoy.

(b) Appellants argue that the ballot summary is misleading in that it refers to a jury awarding damages (rather than a judge). Whether a judge or jury renders the damage award is totally irrelevant and insignificant. Certainly it cannot matter to a voter and it is not misleading or ambiguous.²⁵

²⁵The trial judge found as follows in announcing his ruling:

"Perhaps it would have been better if they hadn't put 'jury' in, but I don't think that's misleading. I think that's merely what it does do." (A 3-4)

-23-

²⁴E.g., Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973) (Court supplanted the common law doctrine of contributory negligence with rule of comparative negligence); Gates v. Foley, 247 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1971)(Court modified common law to allow wife to recover damages for loss of consortium).

(c) The ballot summary correctly states that the amendment will require courts to dispose of lawsuits when no dispute exists over any material fact, thus avoiding unnecessary costs.

While the current Rule of Civil Procedure adopted by this Court, Rule 1.510, does require that summary judgment be granted when there is no dispute over material facts, one purpose of enacting this provision into a constitutional amendment is to require greater control by the judiciary over litigation. By mandating the application of summary judgment where there are no disputes over material facts, the early termination of what might otherwise be unnecessarily lengthy and costly litigation is guaranteed.

An analogous movement can be seen in the recent adoption by the federal courts of a rule requiring a pre-trial conference within 90 days after suit is filed. At this conference, the parties must define the issues which are to be litigated, set a timetable for discovery, and discuss the possibility of settlement. This rule gives the judge much greater control over the litigation process, and is designed to hasten disposition of the case where there are no material facts in dispute. The end result of both the federal rule and the proposed constitutional amendment is to streamline litigation in an overworked court system. This, of course, would cut down on "unnecessary costs," as the ballot summary language states.

(d) The ballot summary accurately states that the amendment "allows full recovery of all actual expenses such as

3

-24-

lost wages, accident costs, medical bills, etc. but limits noneconomic damages to a maximum of \$100,000."

Appellants assert that use of the word "allow" in the ballot summary is misleading because the amendment itself says nothing about allowing full recovery of expenses and would not affect situations in which recovery is now proscribed by law. To have stated that there was a limitation on noneconomic damages without also indicating that economic damages are "allowed" and unaffected would have been to mislead the public. <u>See, Askew v.</u> <u>Firestone, supra</u>.

Moreover, there can be no confusion about the use of the word "allow". To "allow" something to be done is "to acquiesce in or tolerate " City of Eastlake v. Ruggiero, 220 N.E. 2d 126 (Ohio Ct. App. 1966). The proposed amendment places a ceiling on the recovery of noneconomic damages in a civil action. Reason '84 therefore found it imperative that the ballot summary make clear that the amendment places no ceiling on the recovery of actual expenses and that the amendment will fully acquiesce in or tolerate the law as it presently exists in that regard. The word "allow" has no rigid or precise meaning and its meaning will vary according to the context in which it is used. Id.; see also Johnson v. State, 251 N.W. 2d 834, 836 (Wis. 1977) (holding that the word "allow" denotes "acquiescence or toleration of a given situation" (emphasis added)); State v. American Alkyd Industries, 107 A.2d 830 (N.J. Super. 1954) (citing to Webster's and approving the use of the word as a synonym for "approve" or "acquiesce" or "does not prohibit"). The concept of

-25-

economic damages being "allowed" in the summary <u>enlightens</u> rather than misleads the public.²⁶ The public is given notice of the amendment's acquiescence in the state of the law as it exists with regard to the recovery of actual expenses.

Some of appellants' other criticisms -- that "noneconomic damages" are not defined and that the summary does not state whether punitive damages are recoverable in excess of the \$100,000 cap -- are questions to be determined in a proper case if the amendment is adopted.

Finally, the Court should note that appellants' real purpose is <u>not</u> to assure that the voters are accurately advised of the purpose of this constitutional initiative; what they seek by this litigation is to deprive the voters of expressing their choice.

In the trial court, Reason '84 counterclaimed for alternative relief in the event the court found the ballot summary to be misleading, asking that the entire 79-word amendment be substituted on the ballot in place of the 75-word summary. Incredibly, appellants opposed that suggestion, maintaining their position that striking the initiative from the ballot was the <u>only</u> appropriate relief. The trial judge's finding that the ballot summary was not misleading effectively mooted the counter-

²⁶The trial judge so found: "It goes (on) and says it allows full recovery of all actual expenses, such as lost wages, accident costs, medical bills, and so forth. I think that is really enlightening, because the amendment itself does not mention that you could recover this. And I think this makes it clear that those are not being disturbed, but that it limits noneconomic damages to a maximum of \$100,000." (A 4)

claim; but the point made here is the same as that made by Justice Overton's concurring opinion in <u>Askew v. Firestone</u>: the correction of misleading language is a preferable alternative to the "extraordinary power of striking an amendment from the ballot." 421 So.2d at 157.

III. APPELLANTS' DUE PROCESS CHALLENGE IS NOT A JUSTICIABLE ISSUE IN THIS CASE.

Both in the trial court and here, appellants have argued that the Reason '84 initiative should be removed from the November ballot because the substance of the proposal violates the due process clause of the federal constitution.²⁷ Reason '84 countered that such a challenge is premature at this time. The trial judge agreed, stating:

> THE COURT: I guess we should put in there that I'm not passing on due process and equal protection. I don't think it's necessary for me to pass on due process and equal protection.

> MR. SHEVIN: Can we just put that you're deferring that at this time?

THE COURT: Just say I don't think it's necessary for proceeding. (A 5)

The precise issue was presented in <u>Grose v.</u> <u>Firestone</u>, <u>supra</u>. There opponents of a proposed constitutional amendment relating to the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures brought an action seeking to enjoin the

²⁷Below, appellants also asserted an equal protection challenge but have not argued that ground in this Court.

-27-

secretary of state from placing the proposal on the ballot. One of the grounds for challenge was that the proposed amendment was unconstitutional because it unlawfully delegated legislative authority. The same trial judge refused to entertain that argument, and this Court affirmed, holding:

> Appellants' argument that the substance of the amendment is unconstitutional is not a justiciable issue in this case and may be raised in an appropriate proceeding in due course when the issue is property presented.

422 So.2d at 306. Concurring, Justice Adkins made the same point:

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